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175 MOSK, J.

Plaintiffs Mir Kazem Kashani, Manoutcher G. Nik&am, and Shantia Hassanshabhi
(collectively plaintiffs) allege in their second anded complaint that they and defendant
Tsann Kuen China Enterprise Co., Ltd., a Chinesparation that is the parent corporation
or owner of the other named defendants (collegtidefendants), executed a written
agreement whereby plaintiffs would establish anira corporation in Iran to build a plant in
Iran for manufacturing defendants' computer praslttbe sold in Iran and elsewhere and
would provide defendants with 18 percent of theehaf the corporation. Plaintiffs further
allege that in reliance on this agreement they et monies on the project, began setting
up the plant, and obtained necessary cooperation fihe Government of Iran. According to
plaintiffs, defendants ceased doing business irconeputer industry, in whole or in part, and
decided not to proceed with the agreement. Pl&srftied an action for breach of contract
seeking their expenditures and anticipated loditgras damages for breach of the
agreement. On appeal, plaintiffs waived their rigghseek recovery for their out-of-pocket
expenses.

The trial court granted defendants’ motion for sianmudgment on the ground that the
alleged agreement is unenforceable as illegal gathst public policy in that it violates

United States presidential executive orders andementing regulations, both of which
prohibit, without a license, any "United Statessp&" from engaging in any transaction,
either directly or indirectly, that deals in oratds to the exportation, sale or supply of goods,
technology or services to Iran or the Governmertasf or any investment in or financing of
such transactions.

In affirming the summary judgment, we hold thatiptidfs legally cannot establish their

claim because the agreement upon which plaintié&n is based is illegal 177 and against
public policy. We also hold that neither the presitial executive orders nor the regulations
implementing the orders should be interpreted ézlpde defendants from prevailing on their
affirmative defense of illegality.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUNDI1]



Plaintiffs[2] are residents and citizens of the tddiStates. Defendants Tsann Kuen China
Enterprise Co., Ltd. and Tsann Kuen Shanghai Ensergo., Ltd. are Chinese corporations
doing business in China and elsewhere; defendamirifKuen USA, Inc. is a California
corporation with its principal place of businesalifornia; defendant Tsann Kuen
Enterprise Co., Ltd. is a Taiwanese corporatiomwifices in California and elsewhere;
defendant Eupa International Corp. is a Nevadaaratipn with its principal place of
business in California; defendant Tsann Kuen EnigegpCo., Ltd. owns directly or indirectly
the other defendant companies; and the defendampaaies use the names "Tsann Kuen" or
"Eupa” or variations of those names.

Defendants manufactured computer products andedetgirsell notebook computers in Iran,
but the high import duties were an impediment. TBf@mic Republic of Iran (Iran or
Government of Iran) established a "free trade zdkedwn as the "Kish Free Trade Zone")
in which goods manufactured in that zone receivefepential import duty treatment even if
the goods utilized some components manufacturesidmutran. According to plaintiffs, they
and defendants agreed to establish an Iranian @rpo to manufacture notebook computers
in the free trade zone and to sell that produdtain and in neighboring countries. The initial
capital of the corporation was to be U.S. $7 millidinder the agreement, defendants would
supply necessary resources, including rights ferddsign, manufacturing, assembling, and
sale of its products; arrange for equipment forltaeian facility; create research and
development at the facility; and train plainti#sigineers and workers to manufacture the
computersat the facility. Defendants were to rezdi® percent of the stock of the
corporation ("as long as the agreement betweepahees is valid"), while plaintiffs would
form the corporation and establish the facilityrisn. As plaintiffs were to transfer to
defendants 18 percent of stock of the corporatbfeast initially, plaintiffs would
necessarily have had all of the outstanding sté¢keocorporation and have been the
controlling shareholders of that entity. Plaintiffiéege that the parties reduced their
agreement to writing in a November 28, 2000 "Lettfeintent” (agreement) that provided
that the writing was to be binding.[3] Plaintiffengonally planned to manage the company,
which was to manufacture and sell the productsan &nd elsewhere. It appears that the
Iranian government was involved in the project,tfare is correspondence reporting
meetings with Iranian government officials. Pldfstintroduced in evidence an internal
memorandum of defendants stating, "[s]ince computarthe Iranian 178 market are now
very expensive and heavily taxed, and Americansiarallowed in but they want American
technology, they are taking a roundabout route."

Plaintiffs allege that in reliance on the agreem#my invested time and money to carry out
their obligations, including creating an Iraniammaration known as "Notebook International
Ltd." Plaintiffs contend that they did not, and et going to, supply or sell from the
United States any computer or software materiatearnology. Initially, plaintiffs operated
Notebook International Ltd. out of California, atiety began to arrange for financing either
from a Pakistani investor or an Iranian bank, feddants "decided to pull out of the
computer industry entirely or in relevant part [pddcided not to proceed with the
November 28, 2001 [sic] contract." Defendant Tskdoen China (Shanghai) Enterprise Co.,
Ltd. conceded it ceased manufacturing compute2@1. Thus, according to plaintiffs,
defendants breached the agreement by terminatmighibut cause, thereby causing plaintiffs
damages in the amounts plaintiffs expended anglosits.



Plaintiffs asserted only a cause of action for bhneaf the agreement and not one for quantum
meruit. Defendants moved for summary judgment egttound that the agreement was
illegal and contrary to public policy because tlated Executive Orders Nos. 13059, 62
Federal Register 44531 (Aug. 19, 1997) and 1298 %.egleral Register 24757 (May 6, 1995)
(Orders) and the implementing regulations (31 C.56%.101-560.418) (2000)
(Regulations).[4] Those Orders and Regulationsiproany United States person from
engaging in any transaction, directly or indirectBlating to the exportation, reexportation,
sale, or supply of goods, technology, or serviodsan or the Government of Iran. The
Orders were authorized by, inter alia, the Inteamati Emergency Economic Powers Act (50
U.S.C. § 1701 et seq. (IEEPA)), which act proviftescivil and criminal penalties for
violations of orders promulgated pursuant to thatige. (50 U.S.C. § 1705.)

Defendants contend that California law rendersatireement unenforceable because the
agreement has an illegal object and is contratswto (Civ.Code, 88 1441, 1550, 1596, 1598,
1608, 1667, 1668.) Plaintiffs counter that the agrent was legal where executed and where
it was to be performed and was capable of beinfppeed in a legal manner; that defendants
did not meet their burden to show that a licensddccnot have been obtained from the United
States Office of Foreign Asset Control (OFAC) auitiag (even retroactively) the
agreement; that the Orders are not intended teecanprivate benefit or right of action or
defense on a party; and that to the extent ther®rdeght cover the transaction involved,
they are unconstitutionally vague.

The trial court granted defendants' motion for siamnmudgment and entered judgment.
Plaintiffs appealed.

DISCUSSION
1. Standard of Review

Summary judgment is granted when a moving parghbéishes the right to the entry of
judgment as a matter of law. (Code Civ. Proc., 8c43ubd. (c).) "The purpose of the law of
summary judgment is to provide courts with a me@@rario cut through the parties’
pleadings 179 in order to determine whether, despéir allegations, trial is in fact
necessary to resolve their dispute.” (Aguilar Vaatic Richfield Co. (2001) 25 Cal.4th 826,
843, 107 Cal.Rptr.2d 841, 24 P.3d 493.)

A defendant moving for summary judgment meetsutsien of showing that there is no

merit to a cause of action if that party has shttvett one or more elements of the cause of
action cannot be established or that there is gotEimndefense to that cause of action. (Code
Civ. Proc., 8§ 437c, subd. (p)(2).) Once the defahtias made such a showing, the burden
shifts to the plaintiff to show that a triable issof one or more material facts exists as to that
cause of action or as to a defense to the causetioh. (Aguilar v. Atlantic Richfield Co.,
supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 849, 107 Cal.Rptr.2d 841 3d 493.) If the plaintiff does not make
such a showing, summary judgment in favor of thferi#ant is appropriate. To obtain a
summary judgment, "all that the defendant needsdo show that the plaintiff cannot
establish at least one element of the cause afracti[T]he defendant need not himself
conclusively negate any such element...." (Id. &53, 107 Cal.Rptr.2d 841, 24 P.3d 493.)

On appeal from a summary judgment, an appellate coakes "an independent assessment
of the correctness of the trial court's ruling, Igp the same legal standard as the trial court



in determining whether there are any genuine issetigsaterial fact or whether the moving
party is entitled to judgment as a matter of laflv&rson v. Muroc Unified School Dist.
(1995) 32 Cal.App.4th 218, 222, 38 Cal.Rptr.2d 3%Vhether a contract is illegal ... is a
guestion of law to be determined from the circumsts of each particular case. [Citation.]
(Timney v. Lin (2003) 106 Cal.App.4th 1121, 112811Cal.Rptr.2d 387; see also Kallen v.
Delug (1984) 157 Cal.App.3d 940, 951, 203 Cal.Rpi8.)

2. General Principles Regarding lllegal Contracts

As one authority has noted, "[t]he law has a loistoiny of recognizing the general rule that
certain contracts, though properly entered intaliother respects, will not be enforced, or at
least will not be enforced fully, if found to bertdeary to public policy.” (15 Corbin on
Contracts (2003) § 79.1, p. 1 (Corbin); see alsmiia Tenneco, Inc. (1985) 39 Cal.3d 126,
135, 216 Cal.Rptr. 412, 702 P.2d 570 [""No prineipf law is better settled than that a party
to an illegal contract cannot come into a coutttaf and ask to have his illegal objects
carried out ...""]; Lewis & Queen v. N.M. Ball S®1(1957) 48 Cal.2d 141, 150, 308 P.2d 713
["the courts generally will not enforce an illedpgrgain or lend their assistance to a party
who seeks compensation for an illegal act"]; Wikdfi@ublic Policy in the English Common
Law (1928) 42 Harv. L.Rev. 76.) Such agreementstaaditionally referred to as “illegal
contracts,™ even though they "are functionallyalig®d as contracts unenforceable on
grounds of public policy." (Rest.3d Restitution &just Enrichment (Tent. Draft No. 3, Mar.
22,2004) 8§ 32, com. a, p. 154 (Tentative Drafi}.)

180 California statutes require that a contracehialawful object.” (Civ.Code, § 1550,
subd. (3); see Civ.Code, § 1596.) Otherwise théraohis void. (Civ.Code, § 1598.) Civil
Code section 1668 provides that a contract thatkais object a violation of law is "against
the policy of the law." Civil Code section 1667tetathat "unlawful" is "1. Contrary to an
express provision of law; [{]] 2. Contrary to thdippof express law, though not expressly
prohibited; or, [{]] 3. Otherwise contrary to goodrais." (See also Civ.Code, 88 1441 ['A
condition in a contract, the fulfillment of which i.. unlawful ... is void"], 1608 ["If any part
of a single consideration for one or more objemtsf several considerations for a single
object, is unlawful, the entire contract is voifiQalifornia courts have stated that an illegal
contract "may not serve as the foundation of anipaceither in law or in equity” (Tiedje v.
Aluminum Taper Milling Co. (1956) 46 Cal.2d 450,34854, 296 P.2d 554), and that when
the illegality of the contract renders the bargaienforceable, ""[tlhe court will leave them
[the parties] where they were when the action vegib™ (Wells v. Comstock (1956) 46
Cal.2d 528, 532, 297 P.2d 961; see also Kolanilwska (1998) 64 Cal.App.4th 402, 408, 75
Cal.Rptr.2d 257, disapproved on other grounds inifgadd v. County of Nevada (2001) 94
Cal.App.4th 298, 114 Cal.Rptr.2d 207 ["illlegal c@ats are void"]).

A recent authority states, "It is often asserted there is a presumption against the
availability of restitution in the context of illagjagreements. Courts continue to recite that
the law will ‘leave the parties to an illegal caatrwhere it finds them." Neither
generalization is accurate, and the better autbsiinmediately qualify any such statement
by acknowledging a lengthy and intricate list ofeptions." (Tentative Draft, supra, 8§ 32,
com. b, p. 157.) Courts in California have, depegdin the facts, carved out exceptions to
the statutory and judicial language that illegaltcacts are void and unenforceable. (See,
e.g., Asdourian v. Araj (1985) 38 Cal.3d 276, 292,211 Cal.Rptr. 703, 696 P.2d 95,
superseded by statute on other grounds by Buso&Qtde, § 7031 [illegal contract
enforced if defendant would be unjustly enricheglaintiff would be subject to harsh



penalty]; M. Arthur Gensler, Jr., & Associates,.IlmcLarry Barrett, Inc. (1972) 7 Cal.3d 695,
702, 103 Cal.Rptr. 247, 499 P.2d 503 (Genslegddl contract can be enforced if statutory
penalties interpreted to exclude as a sanctionnforement of contract]; Tri-Q, Inc. v. Sta-
Hi Corp. (1965) 63 Cal.2d 199, 218-220, 45 Cal.Rp18, 404 P.2d 486 [illegal contract
may be enforced based on such considerations akevipiblic cannot be protected because
contract terminated, no serious moral turpitude®ivwed, defendant more at fault, and
defendant otherwise would be unjustly enrichedjyise& Queen v. N.M. Ball Sons, supra,
48 Cal.2d at p. 151, 308 P.2d 713 [illegal conteaforced if policy better served by
enforcement against violating defendant]; R.M. &raar Co. v. W.R. Thomason, Inc. (1987)
191 Cal.App.3d 559, 564, 236 Cal.Rptr. 577 ["C@dde sections 1598 and 1608 are not
always applied literally; in many cases they hawgby been overlooked or ignored"]; 1
Witkin, Summary of Cal. Law (9th ed. 1987) Contsma@ 451, pp. 401-402; 3 Schwing, Cal.
Affirmative Defenses (2d ed.1996) § 37:6, pp. 2286hwing); Rest.2d Contracts 88 178,
179, 180, 181, 182, 183, 198, 199.)[6]

181 For purposes of illegality, the "law" is a bddarm. In this connection, the Restatement
Second of Contracts defines the term "legislateincluding "any fixed text enacted by a
body with authority to promulgate rules, includimgt only statutes, but constitutions and
local ordinances, as well as administrative reguhatissued pursuant to them." (Rest.2d
Contracts, supra, 8 178, com. a, p. 7.)[7]

"A bargain may be illegal because the performahaeis bargained for is illegal; and the
performance may be illegal because governmenthbatit has declared it to be a “crime," in
any one of the multiplicity of degrees.... Thidrise whether the performance bargained for is
one that is merely promised, to be rendered irithee, or is one that is rendered as the
executed consideration for a return promise. Orother hand, a bargain may be illegal even
though no illegal performance is either promiseéx@cuted as the consideration for a
promise; it may be illegal because the making chsabargain is itself forbidden and
subjected to penalty.” (6A Corbin on Contracts @% 1373, p. 2.)

When, as in this case, the parties have not ddsidme applicable law, courts have applied
the law of the place of contracting or the placg@&fformance in determining the legality of
the contract. (See generally 1 Witkin, Summary af. Caw, supra, Contracts, 8 57, p. 93, 8
58, pp. 93-95; 3 Schwing, supra, 8§ 37:1, pp. 3FBg Restatement Second of Conflicts of
Law provides that the effect of the illegality o€antract upon the rights of the parties under
the contract should, in the absence of an effecliamese by the parties, be determined by the
law of the state with the most significant relaship to the contract. (Rest.2d Conflict of
Law, § 202(1), com. c, pp. 645-646; see RobbirRacific Eastern Corp. (1937) 8 Cal.2d
241, 272, 65 P.2d 42.) Notwithstanding these gémpeiraciples, the forum state will not
apply the law of another state to enforce a conhiféac do so would violate the public policy
of the forum state. (Frame v. Merrill Lynch, Pieréenner & Smith, Inc. (1971) 20
Cal.App.3d 668, 673, 97 Cal.Rptr. 811; 1 Witkinn8unary of Cal. Law, supra, Contracts, 8
51, p. 88; 15 Corbin, supra, 8 79.7, pp. 44-45ljf@aia law includes federal law. (People
ex rel. Happell v. Sischo (1943) 23 Cal.2d 478,,49M P.2d 785 [Federal law is "the
supreme law of the land (U.S. Const., art. VI, 3eto the same extent as though expressly
written into every state law"]; 6A Corbin on Cortirs, supra, 8 1374, p. 7 ["Under our
Constitution, national law is also the law of eveeparate State"].) Thus, a violation of
federal law is a violation of law for purposes etermining whether or not a contract is
unenforceable as contrary to the public policy afifdrnia.



3. Iran Sanctions

For more than two decades following the Iran hastagsis in 1979,[8] the United 182 States
has promulgated various trade sanctions against@a November 14, 1979, President
Carter issued the first of a series of orders digjaa national emergency and freezing all
Iranian assets subject to the jurisdiction of thmetéd States. (Exec. Order No. 12170, 44
Fed.Reg. 65729 (Nov. 14, 1979).) Although modifiedcope, the Iranian Assets Control
Regulations remain in effect. In imposing the fidhe President exercised powers
authorized under the IEEPA and the National EmenigsmAct (50 U.S.C. § 1601).
Thereatfter, unilateral trade sanctions were imp@gginst Iran. Specifically, on April 7,
1980, with certain limited exceptions, the expdrjoods to Iran was prohibited, and on
April 17, 1980, the United States prohibited alpwnts from Iran, travel by United States
citizens to Iran, and payments or transfers ofigrachds, property or interests therein to
persons in Iran. (Exec. Order No. 12205, 45 Fed.R4@99 (Apr. 7, 1980); Exec. Order No.
12211, 45 Fed.Reg. 26685 (Apr. 17, 1980).) The Depnt of the Treasury through OFAC
issued regulations implementing the embargo impbgegxecutive Order. (Iranian Assets
Control Regs., 31 C.F.R. Pt. 535 (2003).) As pathe Algiers Accord[9] that ended the
hostage crisis, the frozen assets were returnkdniand certain sanctions against Iran were
revoked. (Exec. Orders Nos. 12276-12285, 46 Fed . Fa(B-7932 (Jan. 19, 1981); see also
Exec. Order No. 12294, 46 Fed.Reg. 14111 (Febl281); 46 Fed.Reg. 14330.) Thereatfter,
with a few exceptions, until the imposition of @nttransaction sanctions in 1987 (Exec.
Order No. 12613, 52 Fed.Reg. 41940 (Oct. 29, 198HAC did not administer restrictions
on dealing or trading with Iran. There were othgrat control regulations that had applied
to Iran since 1979, administered under other statifSee generally Newcomb, Office of
Foreign Assets Control, Practising Law Inst. ConuizéiLaw and Prac. Course Handbook
Series (Dec. 9-10, 2002), 844 PLI/Comm. 105, 1661984, the Secretary of State placed
Iran on the list of terrorist-supporting countr{d® Fed.Reg. 2836-02 (Jan. 23, 1984)), where
it has remained since that time.[10] (22 C.F.R28.1(d) (2003); Dammarell v. Islamic
Republic of Iran (D.D.C.2003) 281 F.Supp.2d 103;1Heterson v. Islamic Republic of Iran
(D.D.C.2003) 264 F.Supp.2d 46, 51, fn. 7.)

On March 15, 1995, President Clinton announced ttieactions and policies of the
Government of Iran constitute an unusual and erdraary threat to the national security,
foreign policy, and economy of the United StatéqExec. Order No. 12957, 60 Fed.Reg.
14615 (Mar. 15, 1995).) Invoking the authority b i EEPA, the President declared a
national emergency to deal with that "threat" aadried transactions involving Iranian
petroleum 183 resources. Two months later, theid@esissued Executive Order No. 12959,
60 Federal Register 24757 (May 6, 1995), which pameng other things, most importation,
exportation, and reexportation of goods betweerUthiged States and Iran.

One court has described Executive Order No. 12856llws: "The order is clothed with

the most serious of purposes, and it is couchédeiiroadest of terms. It prohibits, with only
limited exceptions, the exportation “of any goddshnology ..., or services,' the
reexportation "of any goods or technology,' theeng into "any transaction ... by a United
States person relating to goods or services ofdraorigin,' and “any new investment by a
United States person in Iran.' [Citation.] Morequtebars "any transaction ... that evades or
avoids' its restrictions. [Citation.] The obviousrpose of the order is to isolate Iran from
trade with the United States. []]] Consistent whik plain meaning of the term “export,’ the
Executive Order intended to cut off the shipmerngadds intended for Iran.... See Message
to Congress on Iran, 31 Weekly Comp. Pres. Doc4 158pt. 25, 1995)." (United States v.



Ehsan (4th Cir.1998) 163 F.3d 855, 859; see alSo Dept. of State Dispatch 387 (May 8,
1995) 1995 WL 8643549 [Secretary of State Warrens@ipher states "executive order will
ban all U.S. trade and investment with Iran"]; T&fair Intern., Inc. v. United States (2002)
54 Fed.Cl. 78, 80-81.)

On August 19, 1997, the President issued Exec@@nrder No. 13059, 62 Federal Register
44531 (Aug. 19, 1997), restating and expandingthbargo to include all exportation and
reexportation, direct and indirect, with the spieaifestination of Iran (64 Fed.Reg. 20168-01
(Apr. 26, 1999)). Executive Order Nos. 12959 an@5B3both state that they are "in response
to actions of the Government of Iran occurring ratite conclusion of the 1981 Algiers
Accords, and are intended solely as a respon$ms$e later actions.” (Exec. Order No.
12959, 60 Fed.Reg. 24757 (May 6, 1995) § 7; ExedeONo. 13059, 62 Fed.Reg. 44531
(Aug. 19, 1997), § 9.)

To implement these Orders, OFAC promulgated th@draTransactions Regulations (31
C.F.R. Pt. 560). The Regulations, which were iefhat the time of the transaction at issue
and which track the Orders, prohibit, inter alig following: "the exportation, reexportation,
sale, or supply, directly or indirectly, from thenited States, or by a United States person
[deemed to be any United States citizen, permamsident alien, entity organized under the
laws of the United States (including foreign brags)h or any person in the United States],
wherever located, of any goods, technology, orisesvto Iran or the Government of Iran”
(31 C.F.R. 8 560.204); any "United States persdrerever located,” "engag[ing] in any
transaction or dealing [transaction or dealingudels but is not limited to purchasing,
selling, transporting, swapping, brokering, appngyifinancing, facilitating, or guaranteeing
(31 C.F.R. 8 560.206(b))] in or related to: ... @sotechnology, or services for exportation,
reexportation, sale or supply, directly or indihgcto Iran or the Government of Iran” (31
C.F.R. 8 560.206(a)); "new investment [ constituf§k(a) A commitment or contribution of
funds or other assets; or [1] (b) A loan or othdersion of credit, as defined in § 560.317"
(31 C.F.R. 8 560.316)] by a United States persdraim or in property (including entities)
owned or controlled by the Government of Iran" GRE.R. § 560.207).

The Regulations state that "no United States pergberever located, may approve, finance,
facilitate, or guarantee any 184 transaction byraifin person where the transaction by that
foreign person would be prohibited by this pagefformed by a United States person or
within the United States.” (31 C.F.R. § 560.208p#ohibited facilitation or approval of a
transaction by a foreign person” is defined toudel, among other activities, referral "to a
foreign person purchase orders, requests for brdgmilar business opportunities involving
Iran or the Government of Iran to which the Unigtdtes person could not directly respond
as a result of the prohibitions contained in trag ) (31 C.F.R. 8§ 560.417(b).) thE
regulations further provide: "the prohibition oretbexportation, reexportation, sale or supply
of services contained in 8 560.204 applies to sesvperformed on behalf of a person in Iran
or the Government of Iran or where the benefitumihsservices is otherwise received in
Iran.... [(31 C.F.R. 8§ 560.410(a).)] [A United ®&®mperson may not]: (1) Act as broker for the
provision of goods, services or technology, fromatelrer source, to or from Iran or the
Government of Iran ...; [1] ... [1]] (4) Act as aker for the provision of financing, a financial
guarantee or an extension of credit to any perpenifically to enable that person to
construct or operate a facility in Iran or ownectontrolled by the Government of Iran; or

[1] (5) Act as a broker for the provision of finamg, a financial guarantee, or an extension of
credit to any person specifically to enable thaspe to provide goods, services, or



technology intended for Iran or the Governmentrahl" (31 C.F.R. § 560.416(b)(1), (4),
(5))

As noted above, violations of the Regulations atgext to civil and criminal penalties. (50
U.S.C. § 1705.) Title 18 United States Code se@RB2d, enacted in 1996, makes it a crime
for a United States person to engage in finan@alsiactions with governments of countries
designated as supporting international terrorismd, lean has been designated as one of those
countries.[11] Also, under the Iran and Libya Samg Act of 1996 (Pub.L. No. 104-72

(Aug. 5, 1996) 110 Stat. 1541) the President magt&m domestic and foreign companies
investing in or trading with Iran. (See also 22 I€.5§ 7207 [no United States assistance for
exports to Iran].)

The Regulations provide only two ways to avoid ghehibitions on dealing with Iran:
coverage under a general license authorizing cecttegories of transactions (see 31 C.F.R.
§§ 501.801(a), 560.311, 560.505-560.535; 31 C.§8Rx01.801(b), 560.312)[12] and
issuance of a specific license. The Regulatiorte $@t prohibited transactions "which are
not authorized by general license may be effectdyg under specific licenses." (31 C.F.R. 8
501.801(b).)

General licenses authorizing certain types of tatisns with Iran are set forth in subpart E
of the Regulations. (31 C.F.R. 88 501.801, 560.566:535.) A person does not need to
apply for a general license because the Regulatimmselves authorize the covered
transactions. (U.S. Dept. of the Treasury, Offit€areign Assets Control, Frequently Asked
Questions [as of May 6, 2004] (OFAC Frequently Askriestions).) Persons availing
themselves of certain general licenses may be nexdjto file reports and statements 185 in
accordance with instructions specified in thoserses. (31 C.F.R. § 501.801(a).)
Exportation of goods or technology for incorporatioto an end product within Iran (as
apparently contemplated by the parties here) icoeéred by any general license set forth in
the Regulations. Plaintiffs do not contend thattthasaction here is covered by a general
license.

A specific license is a document issued by OFA@nugpplication, authorizing a particular
transaction to a particular person or entity. (3&£.R. 501.801(b).) There is no formal process
of appeal from a denial of a license applicatidanhy of OFAC's licensing determinations
are guided by U.S. foreign and national securityceons. Numerous issues often must be
coordinated with the U.S. Department of State ahdrogovernment agencies, such as the
U.S. Department of Commerce." (OFAC Frequently Alsieiestions, supra.)

4. The Parties' Agreement Violates the Law

The agreement at issue is prohibited by the OraleisRegulations, as is the performance
promised and rendered by plaintiffs. Plaintiffs Birdted States citizens who reside in
California, and they are therefore "United Statesspn[s]" as defined by the Orders. (Exec.
Order No. 13059, 62 Fed.Reg. 44531 (Aug. 19, 189); 31 C.F.R. § 560.314.) The
express purposes of the agreement were to suppbsgtechnology, and services to Iran and
even to sell products to the Government of Iraresehpurposes violate the Orders and
Regulations. (Exec. Order No. 13059, 62 Fed.Re§344Aug. 19, 1997) § 2(a), (d); 31
C.F.R. 8§ 560.204.) Plaintiffs do not contend th&tythad obtained authorization for their
activities pursuant to any specific license.



By entering into the contract, plaintiffs "approdg[and "facilitate[d]" a prohibited
transaction, acts barred by the Regulations. (F1IRC.§ 560.206.) That the agreement was
signed in China or called for performance in Iraesinot avoid the clear prohibitions of the
Orders and Regulations. Similarly, that the agregrdees not specify the source of funding
is likewise irrelevant. The agreement specificaligtes that plaintiffs are to be involved in
the manufacture of products in Iran and have a ntgjof the shares of the Iranian
corporation that plaintiffs are establishing to @ge in the manufacture and sale of computer
products in Iran.

Plaintiffs’ actual and anticipated performance urde agreement were likewise prohibited.
Plaintiffs allege that they "traveled to Iran tabesetting up the plant" and "secured the
necessary governmental cooperation.” Plaintifisgalthat pursuant to the agreement "they
invested considerable funds, time and resourcedliet project to find the land, plan the
facility, and other expensive preparations ... [andke certain commitments, including
[with] the government [of Iran]...." These actiei, done in furtherance of the agreement to
supply goods, technology and services to Iran, wingrohibited. (Exec. Order No. 13059,
62 Fed.Reg. 44531 (Aug. 19, 1997) § 2(a)(i), (#)C3F.R. 8 560.206(b) ["transaction or
dealing includes ... facilitating”].) The agreemant plaintiffs' performance of that
agreement are in clear violation of the OrdersRadulations,[13] and therefore of the
implementing statute. (50 U.S.C. 8§ 1701 e t seq.)

186 5. Availability of License and Legal Performanc

Relying upon the general rule that a contract rbastonstrued so as to give it a legal effect
if possible under the circumstances (Civ.Code, &81"A contract must receive such an
interpretation as will make it lawful, operativesfohite, reasonable, and capable of being
carried into effect, if it can be done without \atihg the intention of the parties"], 3541 ['An
interpretation which gives effect is preferred teavhich makes void"]), plaintiffs contend
that the availability of a specific license to avtine prohibitions of the Orders and
Regulations precludes refusing to enforce the ageeéon the ground of illegality. Plaintiffs
also point to the language in the Regulationsdtetes that the prohibitions apply "[e]xcept
as otherwise authorized pursuant to this part'G3.R. § 560.204), and to the licensing
provisions in subpart E, which provide that "[nijgehse or other authorization contained in
this part, or otherwise issued by or under thectiiva of the Director of the Office of Foreign
Assets Control, authorizes or validates any trarmaeffected prior to the issuance of the
license, unless specifically provided in such |lgeor other authorization.” (31 C.F.R. §
560.501(a), italics added.) Plaintiffs contend thatse provisions make it possible for them
to obtain a specific license that would not onllidete the obligations of the agreement but
also grant retroactive authorization for the agrerinitself and the performance rendered
under the agreement.

It is true that "[a]s a general rule, if a contreah be performed legally, a court will presume
that the parties intended a lawful mode of perforoea’ (Redke v. Silvertrust (1971) 6
Cal.3d 94, 102, 98 Cal.Rptr. 293, 490 P.2d 805V¥est Covina Enterprises, Inc. v.
Chalmers (1958) 49 Cal.2d 754, 759, 322 P.2d 18.9re court has noted, "Many contracts
cannot lawfully be performed without securing ampigrlicense, or approval from some
governmental officer or board, and yet the consracé not deemed illegal." (Nussenbaum v.
Chambers & Chambers (1948) 322 Mass. 419, 77 N.BBRd782-783, quoted in 8 Williston
on Contracts (4th ed.1998) § 19:61, p. 517.) Citing Massachusetts case, the California
Supreme Court stated, "[t]he requirement of goveminapproval for performance of a



contract does not invalidate a lawful contractt§@on.]" (Alpha Beta Food Markets v.
Retail Clerks (1955) 45 Cal.2d 764, 772, 291 P.28 [Avage control laws intended to curb
inflation, while in effect, did not require wagedrd approval to validate parties' collective
bargaining agreement when payments under agredavently could be made without such
approval after wage controls were terminated];1s@étkin, Summary of Cal. Law, supra,
Contracts, 8 452, pp. 402-404; Lewis & Queen v. NBdll Sons, supra, 48 Cal.2d at pp.
147-148, 308 P.2d 713.)

There are many different types of legally requilieenses, certificates, registrations, and
other governmental approvals necessary for engagibgsiness and professional activities.
These provisions vary as to their purposes andisasc Agreements between parties may
expressly or impliedly be conditioned upon obtagngovernment approval or require one
party to obtain government approval as part ghéformance under the contract. "The fact
that a party agrees to do an act which will beydleunless governmental permission is
obtained does not make such an agreement illeggla garty that does not obtain such
permission may be held responsible in damagesisdaiure to perform the agreement.” (8
Williston on Contracts, supra, 8§ 19:61, pp. 516-p17

187 There are, however, various situations in whhiehfailure to obtain governmental
approval renders a contract illegal and unenforeeiabconformity with the general rule that
a court will not enforce an illegal contract or yide for compensation for an illegal act.
(Lewis & Queen v. N.M. Ball Sons, supra, 48 Cala2gp. 148-149, 308 P.2d 713.) For
example in Lawn v. Camino Heights, Inc. (1971) 18.8pp.3d 973, 979, 93 Cal.Rptr. 621
(Lawn), the court said "[s]ince no permit had bebtained from the Commissioner of
Corporations at the time the agreement for sucmpay was made, defendant corporation's
promise to compensate plaintiff in that manner ifegal and unenforceable even though the
parties may have intended to obtain a permit befugestock was issued.” In that case, the
statute expressly prohibited contracting withoutating the permit.

The Restatement Second of Contracts provides tiosel81: "If a party is prohibited from
doing an act because of his failure to comply wititensing, registration or similar
requirement, a promise in consideration of his dairat act or of his promise to do it is
unenforceable on grounds of public policy if [{]] (ae requirement has a regulatory purpose,
and [1] (b) the interest in the enforcement ofgh@mise is clearly outweighed by the public
policy behind the requirement.” According to Cotbic]ourts often analyze the
enforceability of a contract in this manner.” (16rQin, supra, 8§ 88.1, p. 570.) "Modern
courts ... balance the regulatory interest beheditensing statute against the interest in
enforcing the contract.” (Id.; see Waisbren v. Repprn Productions, Inc. (1995) 41
Cal.App.4th 246, 254-255, 262, 48 Cal.Rptr.2d 437.)

The Orders and Regulations here are regulatingtiwra and involve national security. (See
United States v. Ehsan, supra, 163 F.3d at p. 8&99gne could seriously contend that
enforcement of the agreement in question is naveighed by the public policy behind the
governmental provisions. (See Tentative Draft, aupom. c, pp. 159-160 ["Significant
negative consequences for deterrence will justiéydourt in denying relief, even in the face
of substantial unjust enrichment"].)

Moreover, the applicable provisions are compartibtee requirement in Lawn, supra, 15
Cal.App.3d 973, 93 Cal.Rptr. 621, that a licenselit@ined before contracting. The context
of the Regulations as a whole and the stated pargiog intent of the Orders and Regulations



are that issuance of a specific license is a pueséq to engaging in any prohibited
transaction, including entering into a contractaaning a prohibited transaction. The
licensing provisions of the Regulations state: fiBactions subject to the prohibitions
contained in this chapter, or to prohibitions tmplementation and administration of which
have been delegated to the Director of the Offidéaseign Assets Control, which are not
authorized by general license may be effected onter specific licenses.” (31 C.F.R. §
501.801(b), italics added.) Thus, transactionsdhanot authorized by a general license
cannot be operative legally absent the issuaneespgcific license. (Inter Valley Health Plan
v. Blue Cross/Blue Shield (1993) 16 Cal.App.4th ®®, 19 Cal.Rptr.2d 782 [in determining
intent of lawmakers, a court looks first to wordgmvision, giving them their usual and
ordinary meaning, and administrative regulatiorssaibject to the same rules].) Entry into
and performance of the contract at issue here m@rauthorized by any general license and
could be fulfilled legally only by obtaining a spiclicense, which was not done.

188 Unlike many licensing provisions, granting aa@fc license under the Regulations is not
based on meeting certain specified qualificatiaongquirements. As noted above, the
licensing determinations "are guided by U.S. faneagd national security concerns." (OFAC
Frequently Asked Questions, supra.) To proceed avfihohibited transaction without a
license necessarily risks conflicting with "U.Stdgn and national security concerns."

That a license may be obtained after the agreem@nentered into and that it is theoretically
possible that the transaction effected prior toissaance of the license can be validated (31
C.F.R. 8§ 560.501(a)), may be factors in "baland[thg regulatory interest behind the
licensing statute against the interest in enfortigcontract.” (15 Corbin, supra, § 88.1, p.
570; see Rest.2d Contracts, 8§ 178(2), (3);[14] St@nIntern., Inc. v. United States, supra,
54 Fed.Cl. at pp. 80-82.) In this case, the reguyanterests far outweigh any interest in
enforcing the agreement. Once the technology andugt are provided to those in Iran, the
anticipated harm intended to be prevented has maturhat a license might theoretically be
obtained thereafter cannot undo that harm. Moredkere is no evidence that the parties
contemplated obtaining a license. The agreemers "oeimpose this requirement, and there
is no evidence that plaintiffs ever applied forcaihse.

Plaintiffs rely upon Gardiner v. Burket (1935) 31@ap.2d 666, 40 P.2d 279, a case that is
distinguishable. Gardiner involved an oral conttaatemove a building, which was done
without a necessary permit. The court did not iidlzde the contract because a permit could
have been obtained. Here, unlike the oral agreeméaardiner, the written contract was
itself illegal.

Plaintiffs assert that the burden rests upon defietscto show that plaintiffs could not obtain
a license. But with no license, the contract amfiopeance under the contract are illegal.
Indeed, there have been successful criminal préisesufor violations of the Regulations,
notwithstanding theoretical availability of a liGnthat might retroactively authorize a
prohibited act. (See, e.g., United States v. Ersapra, 163 F.3d at p. 859; United States v.
Hescorp, Heavy Equipment Sales Corp. (2nd Cir.188@)F.2d 70.) It is plaintiffs’ burden

to show not only that the transaction is licensettbat any license obtained after the
transaction was effected cured the illegal actithigt has occurred. We need not determine
the effect of a showing that one could obtain arlge that would validate prospectively and
retroactively the transaction because plaintifigehaot made such a showing here. Plaintiffs’
submission suggesting that others may have obtéirestses for transactions in Iran is not
persuasive because even if one could draw an mferieom 189 past licenses granted that a



license would be granted in a specific case, tlaengmkes given do not involve transactions
comparable to that in the instant case, and tiseme indication of when those alleged
licenses were given or the circumstances existinigeatime of the alleged licenses.

There is another reason that plaintiffs cannotlakamselves of the general principle that if
a contract can be performed in a legal mannemioissoid. This principle "does not apply
where the one seeking to enforce the contractgyaates in the illegal performance.” (Platt
v. Wells Fargo Bank (1963) 222 Cal.App.2d 658, 6B Cal.Rptr. 377.) Plaintiffs' illegal
performance precludes them from relying on the ipddyg of a license to validate their
illegal conduct.

6. Effect of No Creation of Right or Benefit Pravis

Plaintiffs contend that provisions in the Orderattstate that “[n]othing contained in this
order shall create any right or benefit, substantivprocedural, enforceable by any party
against the United States, its agencies or instniaiges, its officers or employees, or any
other person" (Exec. Order No. 13059, 62 Fed.R4532 (Aug. 19, 1997) § 8; Exec. Order
No. 12959, 60 Fed.Reg. 24757 (May 5, 1995) § &lpde defendants from relying on the
Orders as the basis for the affirmative defengbegfality. That language, or similar
language, has appeared in many relatively recesigential orders. (See, e.g., Exec. Order
No. 12600, 52 Fed.Reg. 23781 (June 23, 1987) 8THi9 Order is intended only to improve
the internal management of the Federal governma@uitjs not intended to create any right or
benefit, substantive or procedural, enforceablavatoy a party against the United States, its
agencies, its officers, or any person”]; Exec. Oide. 12989, 61 Fed.Reg. 6091 (Feb. 13,
1996) 8§ 9 ["This order is not intended, and shawdtlbe construed, to create any right or
benefit, substantive or procedural, enforceablavaty a party against the United States, its
agencies, its officers, or its employees"]; Exexddd No. 12788, 57 Fed.Reg. 2213 (Jan. 15,
1992) § 6 ["This order shall not be interpretedteate any right or benefit, substantive or
procedural, enforceable at law by a party agahmestinited States, its agencies, its officers,
its agents, or any person'].)

There is no specific indication in these Ordergvby that language is included. An obvious
goal was to insure that nothing in the Orders wquitt/ide a potential claim against the
United States or its officers. In the instancesmtine phrase "or any other person” was
added, it would appear that the intent was to poechny implied cause of action, even
though Congress and the President must show anmt iotereate such a cause of action for
there to be one.[15]

190 Nevertheless, it appears that the Presidehtsi@rders, took the precaution to preclude
the possibility that anyone could construe the @r@s creating any possible right of action
or benefit. There is no indication, however, thatdbing so, the President sought to
supersede other laws or displace state law. (Sem8=urt v. Storke Housing Investors
(2003) 31 Cal.4th 1157, 1167-1168, 8 Cal.Rptr.3@, 32 P.3d 286 [no federal preemption
of ""traditional state regulation™ unless that W " clear and manifest purpose of
Congress™].)

To conclude that the President intended to precimyecivil consequence of the Orders
would lead to far-reaching and absurd results.example, to read the Orders to preclude
any "right or benefit" that arose from any othev l@ould mean that a party could not rely
upon the Orders for purposes of invoking such tiaail contract principles as impossibility,



impracticality, frustration, force majeure, and l&#an hands. (See, e.g., Civ.Code, 8§ 1441,
1511, 1593; Queens Office Tower Associates v. Aiar§1983) 2 Iran-U.S. Tribunal Reports
247 [Iran asset regulation provides frustratiomgoossibility defense][16].) Under plaintiffs’
theory, the Orders could not even be used for mapof interpreting a contract — e.g., in
determining that a contract could be performedllggas argued by plaintiffs.

The only logical reading of the provisions in thed€rs concerning rights or benefits is that
the Orders themselves cannot form the basis dimmar defense. Here, defendants rely on
state law principles of illegality; that illegalitg based on a violation of the Orders and
Regulations. It is not the Orders or Regulatiora grovide the affirmative defense. It is state
law.

The cases cited by plaintiffs in support of thaterpretation are distinguishable. In Centola,
supra, 183 F.Supp.2d at page 413, the plaintifréasd "a private cause of action directly
under Executive Orders 13,087 and 11,478," whidesr provide that "it is the policy of the
Government of the United States ... to prohibitdisination in employment" and that the
policy is applicable to the United States PostaliSe. (Italics added.) "Section 11 of
Executive Order No. 11478, states, [tlhis Exea@rder does not confer any right or
benefit enforceable in law or equity against thetéthStates or its representatives.™ (Id. at p.
413) The court held that by themselves, these ¢ixecorders "do not create a judicially
enforceable private right of action for Centoldd. @t pp. 413-414, italics added.) Here,
defendants' affirmative defense does not arisetdy” under the Orders and does not
invoke the Orders "by themselves." Instead, thienafitive defense is one of illegality under
state law, which illegality is, in turn, based owialation of the Orders.

In Brug v. National Coalition for Homeless (D.D.G2B) 45 F.Supp.2d 33, the court held
that there was no private right of action underdttiee Order No. 11246 (anti-
discrimination provision) because it does not pdevior one. Again, here defendants do not
assert a defense based on the order itself. InliREs0191 Trust Corp. v. Scaletty
(D.Kan.1992) 810 F.Supp. 1505, a defendant in a besught by the Resolution Trust
Corporation (RTC) asserted as an affirmative defehs violation by the RTC of an
executive order requiring federal agencies inditign to attempt to achieve compromise and
settlement prior to filing suit. That regulatiomtgtd that its provisions should not be
construed to create a defense on the part of amy. @dous, a party could not preclude a
claim against it by asserting that a governmenhegéad failed to attempt to achieve a
compromise first. Here, the defense is not thakethes a violation of any purported
prerequisite imposed by an order for filing a sRither, the affirmative defense is based on
the effect under state law of a violation of anesrd

7. The Inapplicability of Arbitration Cases

Plaintiffs rely on the unpublished case of MGM Rirciibns Group, Inc. v. Aeroflot Russian
Airlines (S.D.N.Y. May 14, 2003) 2003 WL 2110838&M) as support for their position
that the Orders and Regulations did not make #res#ction unenforceable here. That case is
distinguishable.

In MGM, supra, 2003 WL 21108367, petitioner's assiga United States citizen, rendered
consulting services to the Russian airline compamyoflot, in connection with leasing
aircraft equipment to Iran Air — an Iranian goveemtal entity. Aeroflot refused to pay for
the services and, pursuant to the agreement wiitioper's assignor, commenced an



arbitration in Stockholm, Sweden under the lawthefState of New York and Russia.
Aeroflot argued, inter alia, that it need not paything because the contract was illegal
under the same Orders and Regulations at issie im$tant case. The arbitration panel held
that the transaction did not violate the OrderRegulations. Plaintiff successfully sought to
confirm the award in a United States District Cquuitsuant to the Convention on the
Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Arbitral Adsof June 10, 1958, title 9 United
States Code section 201 et seq. (the New York Gdiorg. The court agreed with the
arbitral panel that the agreement did not violaee®@rders or Regulations. The arbitral panel
had concluded that the services in question wehetoflot and not to any entity in Iran.[17]
The court said that even if the agreement did teallae Orders and Regulations, that would
not be grounds under the New York Convention feefasing to confirm an award because
the public policy defense under the New York Cortiento enforcement of an arbitral
award applies "only where enforcement would viotateforum's state's ‘most basic notions
of morality and justice.” (MGM, supra, 2003 WL ZIBB67.)

The court, in effect, distinguished between pupbiticy as contemplated by Article 5 of the
New York Convention as a ground not to enforceraifim arbitral award and national public
policy that might cause a domestic court to consadeontract illegal. There is an "important
distinction between domestic and international ubblicy ... According to this distinction
what is considered to pertain to public policy ontestic relations does not necessarily
pertain to public policy in international relations[{] Considering the legislative history of
Article V(2)(b), the [New York] Convention can baid to refer to “international public
policy' as distinct from "domestic public policy(Van den Berg, The New York Arbitration
Convention 192 of 1958 (1981) 360-361; see Par&h. Ov. Co., Inc. v. Societe G. de L.
du P. (R.) (2d Cir.1974) 508 F.2d 969, 974 [reaqgrisupranational emphasis" rather than
reliance on "national political interests"].) Eviéourts do not distinguish between
international public interest and domestic pubtierest, courts "have adopted very narrow
views of Article V(2)(b)'s [New York Convention] plic policy exception.” (Born,
International Commercial Arbitration (2nd ed.2082p; see Fotochrome, Inc. v. Copal
Company, Limited (2nd Cir.1975) 517 F.2d 512, 5164 "public policy' limitation on the
Convention is to be construed narrowly to be aplptiely where enforcement would violate
the forum state's most basic notions of morality mstice"].)[18] Accordingly, arbitration
enforcement cases arising under the New York Cdioseare not determinative of judicial
treatment of contracts that violate law.

8. Orders and Regulations Not Unconstitutionallygira

Plaintiffs’ argument that the prohibition of "fataltion" or "evasion” specified in the Orders
and Regulations renders those Orders and Reguatimeonstitutionally vague is not
supported by applicable case law. Plaintiffs die @npublished case of Looper v. Morgan
(Dept. of Treasury) 1995 WL 499816, 1995 U.S. Oi&XIS 10241 (S.D. Tex. June 23,
1995) (Looper) that said that a provision in a glestial order barring "evasion” of the
prohibition of transactions with Libya was too vagin that case, the court ruled that OFAC
could not defeat the attorney-client privilege amdew papers of an attorney returning to the
United States whose clients were suspected of dmismess on behalf of the sanctioned
Libyan government. The court held that the acegitivere not covered by the applicable
regulations. (See Lehrer, Unbalancing the Termri8heckbook: Analysis of U.S. Policy in
its Economic War on International Terrorism (20QQ)Tul. J. Int'l Comp. L. 333, 343
[discussing Looper case but noting judicial defeestoward OFAC regulations and licensing
procedure, and referring to Looper as "one of dve dritical opinions of OFAC" (at p. 343,



fn. 79)]; Marcuss, Grist for the Litigation Mill ib.S. Economic Sanctions Programs (1999)
30 Law & Pol'y Int'l Bus. 501, 518-520 [discussingpper case].) Here plaintiffs' activities
are clearly covered by the applicable regulations.

Moreover, courts have upheld the validity of the aésuch statutory words as "facilitate"
against contentions that the words are uncongtitatiy vague. (See, e.g., United States v.
Two Tracts of Real Property (4th Cir.1993) 998 F2Pd, 210 ["use or facilitation" language
as interpreted held not unconstitutionally vagdejf Center, Inc. v. United States (9th
Cir.1963) 325 F.2d 793, 795 [the words "facilitaé#it! "involving" not unconstitutionally
vague]; United States v. Smith (E.D.II1.1962) 2QS¢pp. 907, 918 ["The words "promote,’
‘manage,’ "establish,’ “carry on' or “facilitate inomotion, management, establishment or
carrying on' are words which have a general meaiing no serious argument can be
presented by which it may be successfully contenladthese words are either vague or
ambiguous or have some obscure meaning"]; sedJalged States v. Hescorp, Heavy
Equipment Sales Corp., supra, 801 F.2d at pp. 7{intonnection with the term 193
"service contract,” "the Executive Order and thguRations gave Hescorp fair notice that its
intended shipments to Iran were prohibited" so@dambe unconstitutionally vague].) Thus,
the language to which plaintiffs object do not @tre Orders and Regulations to be
unconstitutional.

9. No Other Grounds For Enforceability

"Although the courts generally will not enforce idlegal contract, in some cases the statute
making the conduct illegal, in providing for a finoeadministrative discipline, excludes by
implication the additional penalty involved in hold the illegal contract unenforceable
[citation]. Sometimes the forfeiture resulting framenforceability is disproportionately
harsh considering the nature of the illegality.eath such case, how the aims of policy can
best be achieved depends on the kinds of illegahtythe particular facts involved.'
[Citation.]" (Gensler, supra, 7 Cal.3d at pp. 7@3,7103 Cal.Rptr. 247, 499 P.2d 503.) Even
if a determination of enforceability of patentliedjal contracts can be based on the particular
facts, plaintiffs have not established any basigiéparting from the practice of courts
generally not to enforce a contract in violatiorlasf. (Asdourian v. Araj, supra, 38 Cal.3d at
p. 291, 211 Cal.Rptr. 703, 696 P.2d 95; see Wanslr@eppercorn Productions, Inc., supra,
41 Cal.App.4th at p. 261, 48 Cal.Rptr.2d 437, quptBeverance v. Knight-Counihan Co.
(1947) 29 Cal.2d 561, 568, 177 P.2d 4.)

An agreement in violation of trade restrictionsmrdgated for national security reasons and
therefore for the purposes of protecting the pusiiculd be unenforceable. The penalty is
not disproportionate to the severity of the offerss®l any "forfeiture" is not unfair. Plaintiffs
now only seek lost profits — not restitution of nemor consideration paid to defendants.
There is no allegation that any benefit was coerfion or retained by defendants, that
defendants have been unjustly enriched, or thajantventure between plaintiffs and
defendants retains monies that could be disbums#tetjoint venturers.[19] Moreover,
plaintiffs knew they were dealing with Iran and ey®ovided for the possibility of the
agreement not being valid.[20]

Effective deterrence of violations of the Regulasiovill result from the refusal to enforce the
agreement — not from enforcing the plaintiffs' olaDefendants are no more at fault in
entering into the transaction than plaintiffs. Defants' breach of the agreement prior to full
performance before the project became operatiomhttee unlikelihood that it will ever be



performed should have no bearing on the enforagabilthe agreement, for generally the
issue of enforceability of an illegal 194 contranty arises in a claim of breach of contract.
Conduct in violation of the Orders and Regulatibas already taken place. The agreement
itself involves such serious ramifications, inchuglinational security, that allowing plaintiffs
damages for a breach of an illegal contract woelthibonsistent with the rationale for the
doctrine of unenforceability of illegal contract&nowing that they will receive no help from
the courts and must trust completely to each atlgerdd faith, the parties are less likely to
enter an illegal arrangement in the first plackéwis & Queen v. N.M. Ball Sons, supra, 48
Cal.2d at p. 150, 308 P.2d 713.)

It is not reasonable to infer from the Orders, Raigons, and IEEPA that Congress or the
President intended that civil and penal sanctiooglevexclude any additional deterrent, such
as unenforceability of a contract. Corbin statggtdtutes seldom express any intention
regarding the enforceability of contracts in so ynawords. One discovers the supposed
intention of the legislature by inference from theposes of the statute, the evils and harms
involved in noncompliance, and the cruelty of enifiog heavy forfeitures against one whose
offense may not be very serious." (15 Corbin, supi&8.2, p. 573.) In this weighing process,
Corbin points to section 181 of the Restatemenb&dof Contracts.[21] Thus, cases have
enforced contracts that involve technical violati@fi occupational licensing and building
permit laws (see, e.g., Felix v. Zlotoff (1979)©al.App.3d 155, 162-163, 153 Cal.Rptr.
301; Vitek, Inc. v. Alvarado Ice Palace, Inc. (1933 Cal.App.3d 586, 110 Cal.Rptr. 86,
superseded by statute by Bus. & Prof.Code, § 7@84d. (d); 3 Schwing, supra, 8 37:6, pp.
22-23), revenue raising provisions, or "when thgitkature enacts a statute forbidding
certain conduct for the purpose of protecting dasscof persons from the activities of
another." (Lewis & Queen v. N.M. Ball Sons, suptd,Cal.2d at p. 153, 308 P.2d 713 ["a
member of the protected class may maintain anractdwithstanding the fact that he has
shared in the illegal transaction"]; see Yuba Cgpridousing Partners, Ltd. v. Area
Developers (2002) 98 Cal.App.4th 1077, 1082, 120Rpdr.2d 273.)

None of those considerations is present in thamsiase. Here, the provisions violated are
not revenue raising but regulatory in nature tdgubthe interests of the United States.
Plaintiffs are not part of any protected class. Viodations of the Regulations are not mere
technicalities with no consequence. Rather, vioregiof the Regulations are considered to be
contrary to the security interests of the Unitealt&. The President issued the Orders "to deal
with [Iran's] unusual and extraordinary threathe hational security, foreign policy, and
economy of the United States.” (Exec. Order No58280 Fed.Reg. 24757 (May 6, 1995).)
Thus, none of the possible "exceptions and quatibas” (R.M. Sherman Co. v. W.R.
Thomason, Inc., supra, 191 Cal.App.3d at p. 568,2a&.Rptr. 577) to the rule precluding
unenforceability of illegal contracts and compeiwator illegal performance is applicable in
this case.

CONCLUSION

Plaintiffs’ claim is based on an agreement thdatés a law and is contrary to 195 California
public policy. Accordingly, as a matter of law, jiffs may not recover damages for any
breach of that agreement.

DISPOSITION

The judgment is affirmed. The parties shall beairtbwn costs of appeal.



We concur: GRIGNON, Acting P.J., and ARMSTRONG, J.

[1] In accordance with the summary judgment stashdéreview, we state the uncontradicted
facts and the reasonable inferences that can beadram them. (Hersant v. Department of
Social Services (1997) 57 Cal.App.4th 997, 1001C6&FRptr.2d 483.)

[2] Plaintiffs allege that by assignment the claimeéong to plaintiffs Nikfarjam and
Hassanshahi.

[3] Defendants have taken the position that theas mo binding agreement, but that position
was not a basis of their summary judgment motion.

[4] We refer to the Regulations in effect at thediof the transaction in question. There are
no changes in the Regulations from 2000 to thegptdtat affect the situation in this case.

[5] The Restatement Second of Contracts statess ‘Héstatement is concerned with

whether a promise is enforceable and not with wdredbme other sanction has been attached
to the act of making or performing it in such a vesyto make that act “illegal.' The rules
stated here are therefore formulated in termsméntorceability’ rather than “illegality.’
"(Rest.2d Contracts (1981) ch. 8, Topic 1, intraducnote, p. 5.) Some suggest that the

term "illegal contract” is an oxymoron. (Strong,elBnforceability of lllegal Contracts

(1961) 12 Hastings L.J. 347.)

[6] These authorities give examples of illegal caats that can be enforced.

[7] The court in Della Zoppa v. Della Zoppa (20@86)Cal.App.4th 1144, 1154, 103
Cal.Rptr.2d 901 said that the phrase "express gimviof law" in Civil Code section 1667
"clearly refers to a statute." That statement cabadaken literally. (See, e.g., Timney v.
Lin, supra, 106 Cal.App.4th at p. 1127, 131 CalRpt387 [courts will not enforce contract
to perform act prohibited by statute or ordinané&]skinson & Brown v. Wolf (2004) 32
Cal.4th 453, 9 Cal.Rptr.3d 693, 84 P.3d 379 [violabf California Rules of Professional
Conduct precludes plaintiffs' recovery under agrestirbut did not bar claim for quantum
meruit].)

[8] On November 3, 1979, Iranians seized the Un8ates Embassy in Tehran and detained
American diplomatic and consular personnel for dédys.

[9] Declaration of the Government of the Democraticl Popular Republic of Algeria (19
Jan. 1981, reprinted in 20 I.L.M. 224 (1981) and ilnan-U.S. Claims Tribunal Reports
(1981) 3-8) and the Declaration of the Governmétih® Democratic and Popular Republic
of Algeria Concerning the Settlement of Claims by Government of the United States of
America and the Government of the Islamic Reputdiitan (19 Jan. 1981, reprinted in 20
I.L.M. 230 (1981) and in 1 Iran-U.S. Claims TribliReports (1981) 9-12), and related
technical implementing agreements; see Brower &Bchke, The Iran-United States Claims
Tribunal (1998) 1-10; Christopher, Chances of &ftimfie (2001) 96-123; Christopher, et al.,
American Hostages in Iran: The Conduct of a C{@isunsel on Forum Relations, Yale
Press 1985).



[10] States are designated as "terrorist" undeEttmort Administration Act of 1979, section
6(j) (50 U.S.C.App. 8§ 2405(j)), or under the Forefgssistance Act of 1961, section 620A
(22 U.S.C. § 2371).

[11] See footnote 10, ante.

[12] General licenses authorizing certain humaiaitaactivities in and around Iraq (31
C.F.R. 8 560.536 (2003)), and certain survey oesssaent missions in Iran (31 C.F.R. §
560.537 (2003)), were issued after the transadiaossue in this case.

[13] Plaintiffs may have been aware of this posisyoby providing in the agreement, "as
long as the agreement between the parties is Valid.

[14] Restatement Second of Contracts, section dai®ment b, states, "Only infrequently
does legislation, on grounds of public policy, pdevthat a term is unenforceable. When a
court reaches that conclusion, it usually doesrsthe basis of a public policy derived either
from its own perception of the need to protect saspect of the public welfare or from
legislation that is relevant to that policy althbugsays nothing explicitly about
unenforceability.... In some cases the contravardigublic policy is so grave, as when an
agreement involves a serious crime or tort, thanforceability is plain. In other cases the
contravention is plain. In other cases the contrtawa is so trivial as that it plainly does not
preclude enforcement. In doubtful cases, howevdecssion as to enforceability is reached
only after a careful balancing, in the light of @lé circumstances, of the interest in the
enforcement of the particular promise against ey against the enforcement of such
terms."

[15] "To assert a judicially enforceable privateisa of action directly under an executive
order, a plaintiff must show (1) that the Presidestied the order pursuant to a statutory
mandate or delegation of authority from Congresd,therefore the order had the force and
effect of law, and (2) that the order's terms amgppse evidenced an intent to create a private
right of action. Independent Meat Packers Assammati Butz, 526 F.2d 228, 234-35 (8th
Cir.1975). In the absence of such a delegationutsfaity or mandate from Congress, the
President may not act as a lawmaker on his ownnystown Sheet & Tube Co. v. Sawyer
[(1952)] 343 U.S. 579, 587-89 [72 S.Ct. 863, 96d..[E153]." (Centola v. Potter
(D.Mass.2002) 183 F.Supp.2d 403, 413 (Centola)Tsaesamerica Mortgage Advisors, Inc.
v. Lewis (1979) 444 U.S. 11, 100 S.Ct. 242, 62 L.28dL46 [whether statute creates an
implied cause of action is determined by whethengess intended to create a private
remedy]; Phonetel Technologies v. Network Enharicgddcom (E.D.Tex.2002) 197
F.Supp.2d 720, 722, fn. 1 [questioned whether Beesiby order or OFAC by regulations,
without a specific statutory delegation of authgrdan provide a cause of action because
Article Ill, Section 2 of the Constitution "bestowpon Congress the authority to confer
some or all of the judicial power upon the inferiederal courts ..."].)

[16] Judge Howard Holtzmann dissented on the grabatiran should not benefit from a
situation it created and that caused the promulgatdf the regulation. (Queens Office Tower
Associates v. Iran Air, supra, 2 Iran-U.S. TribuR&lports at p. 254.)

[17] In the instant case, plaintiffs were to estbhn entity in Iran.



[18] As this case does not involve an arbitral alyare do not have to decide enforceability
under the New York Convention and whether under@wavention, the violation of the
Orders and Regulations should, in a United Staiag cbe considered contrary to
international public policy.

[19] In order for there to be the possibility oftieution, there must be unjust enrichment or
the likelihood of unjust enrichment. (Tentative fraupra, 8 32, p. 154, com. a, p. 155.)
Although some courts have allowed an accounting mdirtnership "pursuing ends contrary to
law" (15 Corbin, supra, 8 89.12, pp. 669-673), tHeynot always do so. (See Chateau v.
Singla (1896) 114 Cal. 91, 45 P. 1015 [partnerghifent apartments to prostitutes].)

[20] Transfair Intern., Inc. v. United States, su@4 Fed.C1.78 is far different. The
government refused to pay a contractor for trartsgphumanitarian relief supplies to
Ethiopia because a subcontractor used an Iranraierctn transport the supplies. The
contractor did not know that the subcontractor teasse Iranian aircraft. Under these
circumstances, the court held that the contracts mot responsible for the acts of the
subcontractor and that any illegality should nsuitin a forfeiture.

[21] "If a party is prohibited from doing an actdagise of his failure to comply with a
licensing, registration or similar requirement,rarpise in consideration of his doing that act
or of his promise to do it is unenforceable on gsiof public policy if []] (a) the
requirement has a regulatory purpose, and [{hg)riterest in the enforcement of the
promise is clearly outweighed by the public polbshind the requirement.”

Go to Google Home - About Google - About Google@ah

©2009 Google



